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The home of Charles D. Drain, Jr., was erected in 1893 on a rise of land southeast 
of, and overlooking the town of Drain. It is oriented toward the north. The design 
source attributed to it is George F. Barber's The Cottage Souvenir.

The Queen Anne Style house is a two-story, wood-frame structure with attic on a 
foundation of brick surfaced with stucco. The body of the house is covered with ship- 
lap siding, but shingle siding is used for a bell-cast belt course and a corner tower. 
As is typical of its style, the house is asymmetrical in plan and has a variety of wings 
projecting from a central, hip-roofed volume/ porches, balconies, and bays on its prin­ 
cipal facades. The entry—offset to one side—is marked by an elaborately-finished 
gable-roofed side porch with horseshoe arch set inside its framework and- also, a corner 
tower with conical' roof. A central, stuccoed br1ck flare-top chimney,/a pyramidal-roofed 
porch atop a polygonal bay on the west face are other important features above the eaves, 
Original shingle roof cover has been replaced with composition shingles, and roof ridge 
cresting and turret finials have been missing for some years. Jig-sawn vergeboard dec­ 
oration of the various qable ends is elaborate, employing pierced, or cut-out motifs as 
well as spindle work. Spindles and balusters with elaborate turnings proliferate also 
as porch and balcony trim and railings. Window openings employing one-over-one double- 
hung sash are typically grouped in pairs or tripartite arrangements. The foundation is 
crowned with a ground course consisting of framed vertical boards and panels beneath 
window openings.

As originally laid out, the ground story floor plan included entry stairhall and 
front parlor, parlor-dining area, library, kitchen, pantry, and bathroom. The second 
story plan consisted of front bedroom and corner sitting room, stairhall, and three 
additional bedrooms. Interior finish work, including staircase, hand-painted wood- 
grained doors and paneling, some original wallpaper, and brass hardware, is intact.

North Douglas School District No. 22 acquired the house for office headquarters 
in the late 1960s, Only minor alterations had been made by intervening owners. The 
house is well maintained by its current owners. Plywood ceiling panels and carpeting 
were added to ground story rooms. A central heating system, fluorescent light fixtures, 
and a sliding glass door between entry stairhall and front parlor were added also. The 
changes are essentially reversible in nature. The house has not been comprehensively 
remodeled to fill its current role.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Queen Anne Style house built in 1893 for Charles D. Drain, Jr., is significant 
to Drain as the town's most imposing residence and its most visible link with its found­ 
ing family. Moreover, it is a well-preserved example of work attributed to a popular 
architectural design source of the period—George F, Barber's The Cottage Souvenir. The 
house in Drain strongly influenced the style and decoration of other structures in Douglas 
County after its construction. In 1902 a house of similar design, though slightly less 
imposing in scale and siting, was built at First and A Streets in Drain by one-time car­ 
penter turned merchant, Charles E, Hasard. The Fullerton House in Roseburg--occupied by a 
Drain family lawyer—is also thought to have been designed to emulate the Drain House. 
Barber's designs were the inspiration of houses elsewhere in Oregon, most notably the 
Jeremiah Nunan House of 1891 in Jacksonville which features a massive corner flare-top 
chimney.

The lumber-manufacturing and farming community of Drain is situated at the confluence 
of Elk and Pass Creeks in the eastern foothills of the Coast Range. It was founded by 
Charles Drain, Sr,, a native of Pennsylvania who emigrated from the Midwest to the gold 
fields of California in 1850, and thence to the Willamette Valley of Oregon in 1852. The 
donation land claim on which Drain is located had been taken up in 1350 by Warren Goodell, 
who sold it seven years later to Jesse Applegate, member of the family which pioneered 
the southern emigrant route of the Oregon Trail, The 320-acre claim was acquired by 
Charles Drain in 1861,

Active in Oregon's Territorial and State Legislatures, Charles Drain, Sr. resigned 
his position of president of the Senate in 1860 and removed his wife and children, John 
and Catherine, to Douglas County to take up farming. Eventually, he added some 1700 
acres to the original acquisition.

In 1872 the Oregon and California Railroad reached north Douglas County. A year 
earlier, Drain and his son, John, had sold 60 acres of their land to the railroad for 
one dollar "in consideration of establishing a station... and laying out a town to be 
called 'Drain,'" The new townsite was a promising shipping point and grew rapidly to a 
population of 300 by the 1880s. Hotels sprang up along Main Street, and the Drains enter­ 
ed into the mercantile business. The Drains also were instrumental in establishing, in 
1879, Drain Academy, which evolved as the Central Oregon State Normal School.

John Drain became the town's leading merchant and its first and long-time Mayor. 
He was, elected speaker of the State House of Representatives in 1870, and was a leader 
of the Grange movement in Douglas County, Catherine Drain married Simon R. Lane, son of 
Joseph P, Lane, first Territorial Governor of Oregon. Charles D. Drain, Jr., born in 
Douglas County, succeeded to the family store and fortune upon his older brother's demise

(continued)
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in 1891. He and his wife, Anna Kent Drain, apparently had been planning to build a 
new home as early as 1890, according to the Plain Dealer published in Roseburg, Douglas 
County seat. The July 24, 1890 edition reported: "Charles D. Drain is preparing to 
erect a fine residence in East Drain... finest and most costly ever built in Douglas 
County... design drawn up in New York." It was planned that the building would be two 
stories above the basement and would have seventeen rooms of "elegant design and elab­ 
orate finish." It was set off with palm trees—fashionable landscape materials of the 
period—which remained in place until the 1970s. The house had been planned and carried 
out in a climate of prosperity before the Panic of 1893. Charles Drain lived in it 
seven years before his untimely death in 1910. As it turned out, the community had not 
lived up to its promise as a social and economic backdrop equal to the grandeur of this 
apogee of Drain family residences. Fire struck the commercial center in 1903 and again 
in 1914. A telegraph scheme fell through, and the town endured the closure of its pres­ 
tigious State Normal School in 1907-1908 (the school was moved to Monmouth in Polk Coun­ 
ty). Finally, growth ground to a halt in 1914 when the railroad which gave Drain its 
early importance as a shipping and trading center relocated its planned connection to 
the Coast.
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Walling, A.G. History of Southern Oregon, Comprising Jackson, Josephine, Douglas, 
Curry and Coos Counties... (Portland, OR: Author, 1884).Biographical note 
on Drain family.
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The following described property in Section 17, Township 22 South, Range 5 West, 
Willamette Meridian, Douglas County, Oregon, described as follows:

Beginning at a point which is South 02° 39' West 250 feet from the southeast corner 
of Block 6, Eastmoreland Addition to the City of Drain, Douglas County, Oregon, 
thence South 87° 05' East 164.8 feet, thence South 0° 54' West 199.6 feet, thence 
South 85° 26' West 515.7 feet, thence North 04° 55' West 330 feet, thence North 89° 
07' East 85.1 feet, thence South 87° 12' East 150 feet, thence South 02° 39' West 66.6 
feet, thence South 87° 05' East 150 feet to the place of beginning. Excepting that 
parcel of 0.80 acres now in private ownership (Tax Lot No. 18-14, Account No. 2006-41) 
which is recorded on Reel 65-9640, Douglas County Clerk's Office.


